THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
DEC 18 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2015-CP-10-3891

Appellate Case No. 2018-000516

Athan Fokas.Respondent,

v.

Phillip Ferderigos and Spiros Ferderigos..... Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT PHILLIP FERDERIGOS

Ford Wallace Thomson LLC
Ian S. Ford, Esquire
715 King Street
Charleston, SC 29403
843-277-2011
Ian.Ford@FordWallace.com
www.FordWallace.com
Counsel for Appellant

Other counsel of Record:

M. Dawes Cooke, Jr., Esquire
Jeremy E. Bowers, Esquire
288 Meeting Street, Suite #200 (29401)
Post Office Drawer H

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. DID THE COURT ERR IN APPLYING BASIC DEFAMATION LAW AND THE ABSOLUTE JUDICIAL PRIVILEGE TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE WHERE RESPONDENT'S STATEMENTS ABOUT APPELLANT WERE UNTRUE, DEFAMATORY, AND PUBLISHED TO THIRD PARTIES PRIOR TO ANY THREAT OF LITIGATION AND/OR OUTSIDE THE CONTEXT OF ANY JUDICIAL PROCEEDING OR REASONABLE RELATION TO IT?**
- II. DID THE COURT ERR BY FINDING, AS A MATTER OF LAW, NO SCINTILLA OF EVIDENCE EXISTS THAT RESPONDENT FOKAS PUBLISHED DEFAMATORY STATEMENTS TO MULTIPLE THIRD PARTIES CONCERNING APPELLANT?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Fokas filed his Summons and Complaint on July 14, 2015. (R. pp. 26-31).¹ Appellant Phillip Ferderigos timely filed his Answer, Affirmative Defenses and Counterclaims on October 1, 2015. (R. pp. 43-53). Relevant to Appellant's appeal, as a counterclaim, he incorporated his Answer and Counterclaims in companion case number 2015-CP-10-3919 which also pleaded a cause of action for defamation against Respondent Fokas. (R. p. 49, ¶ 23; R. pp. 952-953, ¶¶ 146-161).

Respondent Fokas filed a Motion to Amend Complaint on December 29, 2015. (R. pp. 196-203). Appellant filed an affidavit of Nathan M. Crystal on February 12, 2016. (R. pp. 234-265). Respondent Fokas filed his Reply to Appellant's Counterclaims on May 31, 2016. (R. pp. 57-59). Thereafter, Appellant filed his Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion to Amend Complaint on June 13, 2016. (R. pp. 303-308). Respondent Fokas filed a Memorandum in Support of Motion to Amend Complaint on November 3, 2016. The Court granted Respondent Fokas' Motion to Amend Complaint on November 9, 2016. (R. p. 25). Respondent

¹ The following day, on July 15, 2015, Respondent Fokas filed a Summons and Complaint in companion case 2015-CP-10-3919 and alleged claims for breach of contract, specific performance, and breach of fiduciary duty/violation of the LLC statute in regard to an alleged oral agreement to build a new building at 229 King Street and an alleged oral agreement to mortgage previously unencumbered property to finance Respondent Fokas' and another member's share of the construction. (R. pp. 765-773). Appellants Spiros and Phillip Ferderigos (hereinafter collectively referred to as "Ferderigos" and individually referred to as "S. Ferderigos" or "P. Ferderigos") timely filed their Answers, Affirmative Defenses and Counterclaims on October 1, 2015. (R. pp. 774-921; R. pp. 922-1069). Relevant to P. Ferderigos' appeal, as a counterclaim, he pleaded a cause of action for defamation against Fokas. (R. pp. 952-953, ¶¶ 146 – 161). Respondent Fokas filed his Reply to the Counterclaims on March 31, 2016. (R. pp. 1076-1081). Respondent Fokas filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to the Ferderigos' Counterclaims on February 28, 2017. Respondent Fokas moved only for summary judgment on Ferderigos' counterclaims for defamation. Thereafter, S. Ferderigos and P. Ferderigos filed their respective memoranda in opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on June 5, 2017, and June 6, 2017. Other than a single footnote in the memorandum of P. Ferderigos, those memoranda are identical to the memoranda filed in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment in case number 2015-CP-10-3891. Respondent Fokas filed his Memorandum in Support of his Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on June 5, 2017. The trial court held a hearing on the motion on June 8, 2017. (R. pp. 1193-1265). The Court issued its Order Granting Plaintiff Partial Summary Judgment on August 31, 2017. (R. pp. 1266-1274). P. Ferderigos received written notice of the entry of the final judgment on September 1, 2017. On September 29, 2017, Ferderigos' timely served their respective Notices of Appeal, which were filed on October 2, 2017. Those appeals were consolidated into Appellate Case No. 2017-002032.

Fokas filed an Amended Complaint on February 24, 2017. (R. pp. 60-86). Appellant timely filed his Answer, Affirmative Defenses and Counterclaims to Respondent Fokas' Amended Complaint on March 20, 2017. (R. pp. 108-127). Respondent Fokas filed his Reply to Appellant's Counterclaims on April 26, 2017. (R. pp. 145-161).

Respondent Fokas filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on August 25, 2017. (R. pp. 356-459). Respondent Fokas filed a Memorandum in Support of Motions for Partial Summary Judgment on December 6, 2017. Appellant filed his Memorandum in Opposition to Fokas' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on December 6, 2017. (R. pp. 563-628). Appellant Spiros Ferderigos filed the Deposition Transcript of Fokas' sister, Urania Nikatos, on December 7, 2017. (R. pp. 664-759). The trial court held a hearing on the motion on December 11, 2017. The trial court issued its Order Granting Plaintiff Partial Summary Judgment on February 22, 2018. (R. pp. 14-24).² Appellant received written notice of the entry of the final judgment on February 26, 2018, via the trial court's electronic notification system. On March 21, 2018, Appellant timely served his Notice of Appeal, which was filed on March 23, 2018.

² At the hearing on December 11, 2017, Appellants Phillip Ferderigos and Spiros Ferderigos incorporated their filings and arguments from companion case 2015-CP-10-3919 regarding Fokas' companion Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the record without objection from Fokas' counsel. (R. pp. 188-190).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, our appellate court applies the same standard as the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC.” Woodson v. DLI Properties, LLC, 406 S.C. 517, 528, 753 S.E.2d 428, 434 (2014). “Summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc., 365 S.C. 204, 219, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct. App. 2005). “Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law.” Id. at 220, 616 S.E.2d at 729. “Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” Id. “However, when plain, palpable, and indisputable facts exist on which no reasonable minds cannot differ, summary judgment should be granted.” Id. “In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Id. at 219, 616 S.E.2d at 729. “If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury.” Id.

“The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.” Id. at 220, 616 S.E.2d at 730 (emphasis added). “Once the party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent’s case, the opponent cannot simply rest on mere allegations or denials contained in the pleadings.” Id. “Rather the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial.” Id. (emphasis added).

“The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite disposition of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder.” Id. Because it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment

should be cautiously invoked to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.” Id. (emphasis added). “In cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN APPLYING BASIC DEFAMATION LAW AND THE ABSOLUTE JUDICIAL PRIVILEGE TO RESPONDENT'S STATEMENTS ABOUT APPELLANT WHICH WERE UNTRUE, DEFAMATORY, AND PUBLISHED TO THIRD PARTIES PRIOR TO ANY THREAT OF LITIGATION AND/OR OUTSIDE THE CONTEXT OF ANY JUDICIAL PROCEEDING OR REASONABLE REALTION TO IT.

The parties are presently involved in the appeal of two lawsuits initiated by Respondent Fokas. The companion lawsuit involves a dispute between the parties (Appellant, his brothers Spiros and Jacob, and his cousin Respondent Fokas) regarding their investigation into the possibility of building an entirely new, separate, and free-floating building above 229 King Street to be used for rental units. In his Complaint, based on the parties exploring and negotiating the possibility of building a new building, Respondent Fokas alleges Appellant and his brothers (the other Defendants) entered into a binding "oral" contract with Respondent Fokas and then "breached the contract by refusing to carry out their obligations to execute the mortgage on the building and other parts of the loan documentation." (R. pp. 765-773). As to Appellant, Respondent Fokas specifically alleges Appellant refused to execute a mortgage and loan documents because "Defendant Philip Ferderigos demanded that Respondent execute an agreement whereby specified penalties would be paid in the event payments were not made on the note to the lending bank."³ (R. pp. 765-773). However, Respondent Fokas' lawsuit lacks merit because he alleges Appellant failed to execute a mortgage and loan documents for an approximate two million dollar (\$2,000,000) loan, which were material terms Appellant never

³ Significantly, Respondent Fokas' Complaint does not allege Appellant breached any "alleged contract" because Appellant could not eat for free at the restaurant located on the first floor of 229 King Street (Old Towne Restaurant) and/or because Appellant was jealous of Respondent Fokas and/or because of Appellant's stubbornness. Yet, Respondent Fokas published such false statements repeatedly to third parties, including Stavros Ferderigos, Fanouri Ferderigos, Irene Fokas, Antonia Fokas, Jacob Ferderigos, and Spiros Ferderigos. Respondent Fokas libeled, slandered, and defamed Appellant with ill will and actual malice by spreading these and other malicious and defamatory statements to such third parties in an effort to try to force and coerce Appellant to sign a mortgage and closing documents in connection with the proposed project that Appellant never agreed to.

agreed to when investigating the project. Moreover, the specific details of Respondent Fokas' unbelievable actions and defamatory/libelous statements against Appellant are set forth in Appellant's Answer and Counterclaims paragraphs 53 through 123. (R. pp. 922-1069). It is in this context Respondent Fokas viciously lashed out, threatened, and repeatedly libeled and slandered Appellant.

A. DEFAMATION JURISPRUDENCE

In South Carolina, an action for slander/libel is based on the violation of a person's right to enjoy his good reputation, unimpaired by false and defamatory attacks. Ervin's, S.C. Requests to Charge § 17-7 Defined. The South Carolina Supreme Court has noted that a person's reputation is invaluable. Miller v. City of West Columbia, 322 S.C. 224, 231, 471 S.E.2d 683, 687 (1996). Under South Carolina law, "[t]he tort of defamation permits a party to recover for an injury to his reputation caused by the false statements of another." Banks v. St. Matthew Baptist Church, 406 S.C. 156, 161, 750 S.E.2d 605, 607 (2013). To prove defamation, a party must show "(1) a false and defamatory statement was made; (2) the unprivileged publication was made to a third party; (3) the publisher was at fault; and (4) either actionability of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication." Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, LLC, 368 S.C. 444, 464, 629 S.E.2d 653, 664 (2006). "A communication is defamatory if it tends to impeach the honesty, integrity, virtue, or reputation" of a party. Hubbard and Felix, The South Carolina Law of Torts 462 (2d ed. 1997). Further, communication is defamatory "if it tends to harm the reputation of another as to lower him in the estimation of the community *or to deter third persons from associating or dealing with him.*" Fountain v. First Reliance Bank, 398 S.C. 434, 441, 730 S.E.2d 305, 309 (2012) (citing Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 494, 567 S.E.2d 860, 860 (2002)) (emphasis added). The tort of

defamation permits “a plaintiff to recover for injury to his or her reputation as the result of the defendant’s communications to others of a false message about the plaintiff.” Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, L.L.C., 368 S.C. 444, 464, 629 S.E.2d 653, 664 (2006).

“Defamatory communications take two forms: libel and slander.” Erickson, 368 S.C. at 466, 629 S.E.2d at 664. “Slander is a spoken defamation while libel is a written defamation or one accomplished by actions or conduct.” Id. “[A] statement may be actionable *per se*, in which case the defendant is presumed to have acted with common law malice and the party is presumed to have suffered general damages.” Id. Libel is actionable *per se* if it involves written or printed words which tend to degrade a person, that is, to reduce his character or reputation in the estimation of his friends or acquaintances, or the public, or to disgrace him, or to render him odious, contemptible, or ridiculous. Anderson S.C. Requests to Charge § 14-3 Defamation – Libel – Actionable *Per Se*; see Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc., 332 S.C. 502, 506 S.E.2d 497 (1998) (if trial judge can legally presume, because of nature of statement, that plaintiff’s reputation was hurt as consequence of its publication, then the libel is actionable *per se*, that is, without pleading or proof of special damages). Under the common law, slander is actionable *per se* only when it charges a party with one of five types of acts or characteristics: (1) commission of a crime of moral turpitude; (2) contraction of a loathsome disease; (3) adultery; (4) unchastity; or (5) unfitness in one’s business or profession. Id. at 511 n.5, 506 S.E.2d at 502 n.5. “Or a statement may be not actionable *per se*, in which case nothing is presumed and a party must plead and prove both common law malice and special damages.”⁴ Erickson, 368 S.C. at 465, 629 S.E.2d at 664. An action for slander is based on the violation of a person’s right to

⁴ Common law malice means the defendant acted with ill will toward a party or acted recklessly or wantonly, *i.e.*, with a conscious disregard of a party’s rights. Padgett v. Sun News, 278 S.C. 26, 32, 292 S.E.2d 30, 34 (1982).

enjoy his good reputation, unimpaired by false and defamatory attacks. See Anderson S.C. Requests to Charge § 14-4 Defamation – Slander – Defined.

A statement that is slander/libel per se is one that our laws presume was made with a malicious intent on the part of the speaker/writer. Ervin's, S.C. Request to Charge § 17-4. A statement accusing a person of an indictable crime is considered slander/libel per se or words that falsely charge a person with conduct, characteristics or a condition incompatible with the exercise of a lawful business, trade, profession or office are slander/libel per se. Id. "The determination of whether or not a statement is actionable per se is a matter of law for the court to resolve." Erickson, 368 S.C. at 466, 629 S.E.2d at 665. However, for defamation that is not actionable per se, a jury determines whether or not a plaintiff has proven the defendant spoke, wrote, or published words that are slanderous/libelous. Ervin's, S.C. Requests to Charge § 17-4 Defamation *Per Se*.

A trial court must initially determine if the communication is reasonably capable of conveying a defamatory meaning. Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc., 332 S.C. 502 (1998); White v. Wilkerson, 328 S.C. 179, 183, 493 S.E.2d 345, 347 (1997). If the defamatory meaning of a message or statement is obvious on the face of the statement, the statement is defamatory *per se*. Holtzscheiter, 332 S.C. at 508–09, 506 S.E.2d at 501. "If the defamatory meaning is not clear unless the hearer knows the facts or circumstances not contained in the statement itself, then the statement is defamatory *per quod*. In cases involving defamation *per quod*, the plaintiff must introduce facts extrinsic to the statement itself in order to prove a defamatory meaning." Id. "If the question is one on which reasonable minds might differ, then it is for the jury to determine which of the two permissible views they will take." Id. at 530, 506 S.E.2d at 512 (Toal, J., concurring). Some statements are so clearly innocent or defamatory the

court is justified in determining the question itself. Id. “In making the determination of whether to submit the issue to the jury, the trial court may consider not only the statement on its face, but also evidence of any extrinsic facts and circumstances.” Id.; Parrish v. Allison, 376 S.C. 308 (Ct. App. 2007).

“In determining the defamatory character of language, the meaning of which is clear or otherwise determined, the social station of the parties in the community, the current standards of moral and social conduct prevalent therein, and the business, profession or calling of the parties are important factors. An imputation may be defamatory as applied to one person at a given time and place, although it would not be derogatory of another person at a different time or in a different place. To determine whether the words were defamatory, [jurors should ask themselves] whether, taken as a whole, the words tend to diminish the respectability of the plaintiff – *and to expose him to disgrace and ill repute.*” Anderson S.C. Requests to Charge § 14-6. (emphasis added).

Moreover, the defamatory statement must be false. Ervin’s, S.C. Requests to Charge § 17-8 Elements. “One who publishes a defamatory statement of fact is not subject to liability for defamation if the statement is true.” Id. “To create liability for defamation, there must be publication of matter that is both defamatory and false. There can be no recovery in defamation for a statement of fact that is true, although the statement is made for no good purpose, is inspired by ill will toward the person about whom it is published, and is made solely for the purpose of harming him. The truth of the matter published is an absolute defense.” Id. However, in South Carolina, “a defamatory communication is presumed to be false under the common law. The plaintiff does not have the burden of proving falsity.” Anderson, S.C. Requests to Charge §

14-6. However, truth can be asserted as an affirmative defense, the burden of which is on the defendant. Id.

“The defamatory meaning of a message or statement may be obvious on the face of the statement, in which case the statement is defamatory per se. A statement is defamatory per se, or on its face, if its defamatory meaning is apparent from the language itself...[:] conversely, if it is necessary to refer to facts or circumstances beyond the language itself in order to make the defamatory meaning of the statement clear, it is defamatory per quod.⁵ In other words, if the defamatory meaning is not clear unless the hearer knows facts or circumstances not contained in the statement itself, then the statement is defamatory per quod.” Anderson S.C. Requests to Charge § 14-7 Defamation – Defamation Per Se or Defamation Per Quod.

Further, couching a statement with a defamatory connotation in terms of an “opinion” is not a defense to defamation. South Carolina has adopted the standard set forth by the U.S. Supreme Court which rejected a defendants’ argument that there is a First Amendment protection afforded defamatory statements which are categorized as “opinion” rather than “fact.” Goodwin v. Kennedy, 347 S.C. 30, 41, 552 S.E.2d 319, 325 (Ct. App. 2001); Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1, 110 S.Ct. 2695, 111 L.Ed.2d 1 (1990). In Milkovich, the Supreme Court held that couching a statement with a defamatory connotation in terms of an opinion does not grant an exemption for anything that might be said.⁶ The Court concluded:

[W]e do not think this passage from Gertz was intended to create a wholesale defamation exemption for anything that might be labeled “opinion.” Not only would such an interpretation be contrary to the tenor and context of the passage, but it would also ignore the fact that

⁵ Defamation need not be accomplished in a direct manner. An insinuation may be defamatory. A mere insinuation is as actionable as a positive assertion if it is false and malicious and its meaning is plain. Anderson S.C. Requests to Charge § 14-8 Defamation – Insinuation.

⁶ In Milkovich, *supra*, the United States Supreme Court rejected the creation of an artificial dichotomy between opinion and fact, holding that the Constitution does not require a wholesale defamation exemption for anything that might be labeled “opinion.”

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