THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr.  
Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-10-3891  
Appellate Case No. 2018-000516

**RECEIVED**  
OCT 18 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

Athan Fokas,

*Respondent,*

v.

Philip Ferderigos and Spiro Ferderigos,

*Appellants.*

---

**INITIAL RESPONDENT'S BRIEF OF ATHAN FOKAS  
(PHILLIP FERDERIGOS)**

---

Andrew E. Haselden  
HOWSER, NEWMAN & BESLEY, LLC  
215 East Bay Street / Suite 303  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 216-6940  
[ahaselden@hnblaw.com](mailto:ahaselden@hnblaw.com)

Leslie S. Lenhardt  
LENHARDT LAW FIRM  
1876 Wallenberg Road

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

Even if this Court finds that the “malice” argument was preserved for appeal, it has no merit as, again, there is no evidence of malice on the part of Fokas. Again, Phillip Ferderigos offers a plethora of reasons why he considers Fokas’ statements to be “malicious” without offering any evidence of their maliciousness. That lacking is fatal to his argument. “Actual malice or malice in fact is not presumed and must be proved.” *Jones v. Garner*, 250 S.C. 479, 488, 158 S.E.2d 909, 913-914 (1968).

The lone example offered by Phillip Ferderigos of a Fokas’ statement that he alleges demonstrates malice is the following:

I can’t wait to spread the word that the suites multimillion dollar project couldn’t get done cause Phillip can’t eat for free. I’m sure everyone will find it hilarious. I am probably doing you a favor. Smaller Waistline. I bet your kids will be real proud of you in the future too. Your dad was right for calling you palabo [means “stupid” in Greek] Philipa.

*Phillip Ferderigos' Brief* at p. 22. That statement, even read in the context Phillip Ferderigos advocates, simply does not prove malice. Phillip Ferderigos may not like the statement, but his distaste for it does not make it a statement made with malice.

***C. The Trial Court Properly Held That the Litigation Privilege Was Applicable.***

Even if this Court were to determine that any statements about Phillip Ferderigos made by Fokas were false (no evidence in the Record) and offered with malice (again - no evidence in the Record and an issue not properly before the court), all of the statements complained of related directly to the disagreement and dispute between Fokas and the Ferderigos Brothers which eventually became the Contract Case. As such, the statements are covered by the litigation privilege and are absolutely privileged.

Any statement made as part of a judicial proceeding, in or out of court, is absolutely privileged under South Carolina law. *Crowell v. Herring*, 301 S.C. 424, 392 S.E.2d 464 (Ct. App. 1990). In *Crowell*, a Veterans of Foreign Affairs court martial was determined to be a judicial proceeding and statements made during the course of the proceeding were absolutely privileged. "The trial court held the VFW court-martial was a judicial proceeding. Crowell does not appeal this finding, nor does he argue the defendants' statements were irrelevant to the issues he was eventually brought to trial on." *Id.* at 430, 392 S.E.2d at 467. "[T]he investigation of Crowell's alleged misdeeds can be likened to a prosecutor gathering evidence, interviewing witnesses and preparing a case. Accordingly, we hold the statements made by Allen and Wilder during the course of their investigation of Crowell as trustees and as members of the investigatory committee, were absolutely privileged, ***inasmuch as the statements bore relation to the contemplated proceeding.***" [*emphasis added.*] *Id.* at 431,

392 S.E.2s at 467. See also Sriberg v. Raymond, 370 Mass. 105, 345 N.E.2d 882 (1976) (holding that an attorney writing to a defendant threatening litigation could not be sued for defamation given that the statements made were to the very defendant and addressed the very claims which were raised in the eventual litigation); and Mathis v. Kennedy, 243 Minn, 219, 225, 67 N.W.2d 413, 418 (1954) (concluding that statements made in a court of record having jurisdiction of a guardianship proceeding were absolutely privileged so long as “it has reference to or relation to or connection with the case before the court”).

Phillip Ferderigos argues that Fokas’ publication of statements made to Jacob Ferderigos satisfies the element of publication to a third party required when alleging a defamation cause of action. Any statements to Jacob Ferderigos were in the form of text messages sent to Jacob and the Appellants as part of a discussion and disagreement over the development project to add floors to the building at 229 King Street. These discussions and disagreement resulted in the filing of the Contract Case. The statements concerning parties “eating for free,” statements questioning Appellants’ business judgment should they abandon the expansion project and statements challenging the 11<sup>th</sup> hour demands by Phillip Ferderigos not only failed to be defamatory, they were solely made in the context and scope of that same disagreement that matured into the Contract Case. Further, they are directly within the scope of the issues surrounding Fokas’ allegations of breach of contract and breach of the duty of care. Inasmuch as Fokas’ statements of bore relation to the contemplated proceeding, Fokas’ text messages and all discussions between Fokas and the Ferderigos leading up to and creating the disagreement that became the contract case are absolutely privileged.

South Carolina's adherence to the absolute litigation privilege "does not depend on the rigid requirement of a strictly . . . judicial proceeding; its limits are fixed rather by considerations of public policy." *Pond Place Partners, Inc. v. Poole*, 351 S.C. 1, 30, 567 S.E. 2d 881, 896 (Ct. App. 2002) (quoting *Corbin v. Washington Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 278 F. Supp. 393, 396 (D.S.C. 1968)). The absolute judicial privilege promotes a policy of affording freedom of access to the courts and full development of the facts. *See* Vitauts M. Gubis, Cumulative Supplement, *Libel and Slander*, 23 ALR 4th Art. 4(a) (1983); 50 Tex. Jur 3d Libel and Slander § 67 (2018). Again, those statements which have some relation to certain judicial proceedings have been held to be covered by the absolute litigation privilege. *Pond*, 351 S.C. at 23, 567 S.E. 2d at 894.

Phillip Ferderigos asserts that because the alleged defamatory comments were made prior to any formal litigation, and further that Fokas has defamed with a supposed "reckless abandon," the absolute litigation privilege should not be extended in the present case because that would go against public policy, giving a "blank check to defame your legal opponents." *Phillip Ferderigo's Brief* at 26: n. 16. Phillip Ferderigos' attempts to paint Fokas' statements as off-handed and unwieldy falsehoods; however, Phillip Ferderigos has yet again failed to acknowledge that the alleged defamatory statements, which have not been shown to be false, bear direct relation to the contemplated judicial proceeding: the Contract Case. Therefore, contrary to Phillip Ferderigos' assertion, public policy is served well by extending the absolute judicial privilege in this case because Fokas' statements share a tight nexus with the Contract Case and are not unrelated slanders.

The trial court properly granted Fokas' motion for summary judgment because no statement upon which Appellants rely fell outside the litigation privilege. South Carolina also recognizes the doctrine of qualified privilege as protection from actions for defamation:

A communication made in good faith on any subject matter in which the person communicating has an interest, or in reference to which he has a duty, is privileged if made to a person having a corresponding interest or duty, even though it contains matter which, without his privilege, would be actionable, and although the duty is not a legal one, but only a moral or social duty of imperfect obligation. . . . The privilege arises from the necessity of full and unrestricted communication concerning a matter in which the parties have an interest or duty, and is not restricted within any narrow limits.

Conwell v. Spur Oil Co. of Western South Carolina, 240 S.C. 170, 178-179, 125 S.E.2d 270, 274-275 (1962).

Jacob Ferderigos was a member of the LLC and the expansion agreement that is the center of all discussions and the disagreement giving rise to this action and the Contract Case. Jacob, therefore, shared the interests of Fokas and while he may have taken different position than Fokas, Fokas' statements to him about matters related to the expansion project at 229 King Street fall, if not under the protection of the absolute litigation privilege, then wholly and clearly within the protection of qualified privilege. Consequently, Fokas' statements to Jacob Ferderigos are not actionable. In spite of Appellants' efforts to repackage and reinterpret Fokas' texts and emails and/or Appellants' efforts to manipulate deposition testimony from a confused non-party subject to repetitive harassment through an interpreter, Appellants fail to produce any allegedly defamatory statement that could fall outside of the litigation privilege. As such, summary judgment in favor of Fokas should stand.

***D. There Simply Were No Defamatory Remarks Made by Fokas that Could Be Considered Actionable Per Se.***

A statement may be actionable *per se*, in which case the defendant is presumed to have acted with common law malice and the plaintiff is presumed to have suffered general damages. Under common law, slander is actionable *per se* only when it charges the plaintiff with one of five types of acts or characteristics: (1) commission of a crime or moral turpitude; (2) contraction of a loathsome disease; (3) adultery; (4) unchastity; (5) unfitness in one's business or profession. Holtzscheiter v. Thomsan Newspapers, Inc., 332 S.C. 502, 511 n.5, 506 S.E.2d 497, 502, n. 5 (1998). "Or a statement may be not actionable *per se*, in which case nothing is presumed and the plaintiff must plead and prove both common law malice and special damages." Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, LLC, 368 S.C. 444, 465, 629 S.E.2d 653, 664 (2006). Common law malice means the defendant acted with ill will toward the plaintiff or acted recklessly or wantonly, i.e. with a conscious disregard of the plaintiff's rights. Padgett v. Sun News, 278 S.C. 26, 32, 292 S.E.2d 30, 34 (1982). "The determination of whether or not a statement is actionable *per se* is a matter of law for the court to resolve." Erickson, 368 S.C. at 466, 629 S.E. 2d at 665.

While Phillip Ferderigos cites numerous privileged communications that he believes establish *per se* defamation by Fokas, the following texts are the basis for most of Phillip Ferderigos' assertions of *per se* defamation by Fokas:

Your brothers [Phillip and Spiros] have no business sense and I'm sure we will be butting heads with Greek properties in the future. Very sad!!!"

*Phillip Ferderigo's Appellant's Brief at 29-30.*

I actually now think that you didn't go along with bulding the new suites so that your brothers would not be able to have more income so that you can keep them below you.

*Phillip Ferderigo's Appellant's Brief* at 31. Obviously, nothing in those texts is (1) defamatory if true; (2) defamatory as stated; and, most importantly (3) defamatory **at all** simply because Phillip Ferderigos does not like it. A statement is not necessarily defamatory simply because it is unfavorable. *Murphy v. News & Courier*, 141 S.C. 51, 51, 139 S.E. 189, 190 (1927) ("To hold libelous per se the mere statement that one has failed, or even that he was unable, to furnish bond ... would be carrying the law of libel beyond any precedent that has been called to our attention."); *Costas v. Florence Printing Co.*, 237 S.C. 655, 663, 118 S.E.2d 696, 700 (1961) ("We point out that there is no allegation that the respondent lost any customers, or had any diminution in trade. There is no allegation of special damages for losses sustained by reason of the publication of the alleged libelous statement. In short, the complaint does not allege special damages."); *Dauterman v. State Record Co.*, 249 S.C. 512, 519, 154 S.E.2d 919, 922 (1967) ("The language complained of by the plaintiff was naturally displeasing to him and was unquestionably of an unfavorable nature. However, it by no means follows that a publication which is unfavorable is also libelous.").<sup>5</sup>

Phillip Ferderigos's argument that he has been *per se* defamed by Fokas is based entirely on his perception of several otherwise innocuous texts coupled with cherry-picked, mostly out of context court and deposition statements. The trial court properly saw those attempts for the charade they are and granted summary judgment in Fokas' favor.

---

<sup>5</sup> A review of these three (3) decisions, cited by the Trial Court in its *Order*, yet summarily dismissed by Phillip Ferderigos (ostensibly because they do not further his agenda) reveals that they are still good law and oft cited.

***E. Phillip Ferderigos' Argument that Fokas' Statements Were Actionable Per Quod, if It Is Properly Before This Court, has No Merit.***

Phillip Ferderigos' final argument, one raised for the first time on appeal and an argument Fokas can only hope was offered in jest, is that Fokas had no legitimate business-related reason to make the allegedly defamatory statements about Spiro Ferderigos obtained by Appellants at the 11<sup>th</sup> hour. Those statements, per Phillip Ferderigos, qualify as *per quod* defamation. While nothing could be further from the truth, this argument is procedurally barred as the issue of *per quod* defamation was not raised or ruled on by the trial court prior to appearing in Appellants' appellate briefs:

**1. The Issue of Alleged *Per Quod* Defamation Is Not Properly Before this Court and Should Not Be Considered.**

Without regard to whether or not any statements made by Fokas give rise to *per quod* defamation, the trial court's order is devoid of any reference to defamation *per quod* and Phillip Ferderigos never raised the issue in any subsequent motions to the trial court. As such, this argument is not properly before this Court. "It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998)(citing *Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Resources Dep't*, 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.E.2d 571 (1997)). In order to preserve an issue for appellate review, "[t]he issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity." *S.C. Dept. of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301-02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007)(citing *Broom v. Southeastern Highway Contracting Co.*, 291 S.C. 93, 352 S.E.2d 302 (Ct. App. 1986). See *Dixon v. Besco Eng'g, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 174, 463 S.E.2d 636 (Ct. App.

1995)(holding that issues on which the trial judge never ruled and which were not raised in a post-trial motion are not preserved for appeal); United Dominion Realty Trust, Inc. v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 307 S.C. 102, 413 S.E.2d 866 (Ct. App. 1992)(holding that where the circuit court sitting on appeal did not address an issue and appealing party made no motion pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure to have it rule on the issue, the allegation was not preserved for further review by the Court of Appeals).

“Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” ’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). “Without an initial ruling by the trial court, a reviewing court simply would not be able to evaluate whether the trial court committed error.” S.C. Dept. of Transp. v. M & T Enter., 379 S.C. 645, 658-59, 667 S.E.2d 7, 15 (Ct. App. 2008)(citing Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000). Accordingly, “it is a litigant’s duty to bring to the court’s attention any perceived error, and the failure to do so amounts to a waiver of the alleged error.” S.C. Dept. of Transp., 372 S.C. at 301, 641 S.E.2d at 907 (citing Parks v. Morris Homes Corp., 245 S.C. 461, 471, 141 S.E.2d 129, 134 (1965). “[E]ven if an issue is preserved at the trial court level, it must still be properly raised and argued to the appellate court.” S.C. Dept. of Transp., 379 S.C. at 658-59, 667 S.E.2d at 15. “[I]ssues not argued in the brief are deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal.” Fields v. Fields, 342 S.C. 182, 191 n.8, 536 S.E.2d 684, 689 n.8 (Ct. App. 2000) (citing First Sav. Bank v. McLean, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994)); see also Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. and Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001)(“[A] one sentence paragraph raised in an appellant’s brief was insufficient to preserve the issue for appeal.”).

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